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MOT 
JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11223 
LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, Ltd. 
170 S Green Valley Parkway #300 
Henderson, NV 89012 
Phone: 702-979-9941 
jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 
 

 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE 

STATE OF NEVADA FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK 
 

 

GENARO RICHARD PERRY, 

 Petitioner, 

 vs. 

RENEE BAKER, WARDEN 

Lovelock Correctional Center, 

 Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C298879-1 
 
Dept No.: VI 
 
 
 
HEARING REQUESTED 
 
 
 

 
) 
) 

 

 

MOTION REQUESTING ORDER DIRECTING THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN 

POLICE DEPARTMENT TO CONDUCT GENETIC MARKER AND LATENT 

FINGERPRINT ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE IMPOUNDED AT CRIME SCENE 

 

COMES NOW, Petitioner, GENARO RICHARD PERRY, by and through his attorney, Jean J. 

Schwartzer, Esq., and respectfully moves this Honorable Court for an order directing the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department to conduct latent print analysis of the knife impounded from the 

crime scene and compare results against the prints of both Genaro Perry and Corla Carpenter and, 

pursuant to NRS 176.0918, and order directing same to conduct genetic marker analysis of the blood 

samples impounded from the crime scene and compare results against the genetic markers of both 

Genaro Perry and Corla Carpenter. 

 

Case Number: C-14-298879-1

Electronically Filed
2/3/2021 2:11 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 2 

 

This Motion is supported by the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities and all 

relevant papers and pleadings on file in this case. 

 

DATED this _3
rd

_ day of February, 2021. 

   
                            

/s/ Jean Schwarzter_____________ 
      JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 011223 
LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, Ltd. 
170 S. Green Valley Parkway #300 
Henderson, NV 89012 
Phone: 702-979-9941 
jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 

 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On June 15, 2014, the State filed an Information charging Petitioner Genaro Perry ("Perry") 

with: Count 1 - Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165); Count 2 - 

False Imprisonment with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony - NRS 200.460(3)(b)); Count 3 -Grand 

Larceny Auto (Felony- NRS 105.228(3)); Count 4 -Assault with a Deadly Weapon (Felony-NRS 

200.471(2)(b)); Count 5 -Coercion (Felony- NRS 207.190(2)(a)); Count 6 - Battery Resulting in 

Substantial Bodily Harm Constituting Domestic Violence (Felony- NRS 200.481, 200.485, 33.018); 

and Count 7 - Preventing or Dissuading Witness or Victim from Reporting Crime or Commencing 

Prosecution (Felony - NRS 199.305).  

Perry waived his right to a jury and requested a bench trial. Perry’s bench trial began on 

September 29, 2015. On October I, 20 I 5, he was found guilty on all counts. On January 6, 2016, the 

Court sentenced Perry to the Nevada Department of Corrections as follows:  
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 3 

 

Count 1 - maximum of 120 months and minimum of 36 months, plus a 

consecutive sentence of maximum of 120 months and minimum of 36 months for 

the use of a deadly weapon;  

Count 2 - maximum of 60 months and minimum of 18 months, concurrent with 

Count 1;  

Count 3 - maximum of 96 months and minimum of 24 months, consecutive to 

Counts I and 2;  

Count 4 - maximum of 60 months and minimum of 18 months, concurrent with 

Count 3;  

Count 5 - maximum of 60 months and minimum of 18 months, concurrent with 

Count 4;  

Count 6 - maximum of 48 months and minimum of 18 months, concurrent with 

Count 5; and,  

Count 7 - maximum of 36 months and minimum of 12 months, concurrent with 

Count 6.  

 

The Judgment of Conviction was filed on January 22, 2016.  Perry filed a Notice of Appeal on 

November 4, 2015. On December 14, 2016, the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed Perry’s Judgment 

of Conviction. Remittitur issued on January 10, 2017.  

On February 7, 2017, Perry filed a timely Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, Request for an 

Evidentiary Hearing, and Motion to Appoint Counsel.  

 

II. FACTS 

Perry and Corla Carpenter (“Carpenter”) were involved in a six-month relationship before 

breaking up. Trial Transcript Day 1 (“TT1”) at 39-41. On the night of April 30, 2014, Perry came to 

Carpenter’s house after she was already in bed, asking for his blood pressure medication he had left 

behind when they broke up. She let him in but told him that he would have to leave by the morning. 

TT1 at 41-46.  

 Carpenter claimed that in the morning, Perry started acting aggressively, scaring Carpenter.   

She claimed that she tried to call for help but that he grabbed her phone and threw it against the wall, 
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 4 

telling her that she would not call the police on him. TT1 at 41-46. Carpenter claimed she tried to 

escape to the bathroom and that he punched her in the face. TT1 at 49.  

Carpenter claimed that she tried to run away from him but fell down the stairs and landed in 

the kitchen. TT1 at 46-52. She claimed that Perry beat and kicked her while she was curled in the fetal 

position on the kitchen floor. TT1 at 46-52.  She claimed that Perry grabbed a knife that was laying on 

the stove. TT1 at 52-58. Carpenter claimed that when she saw the knife, she begged him not to kill 

her. Id.  Carpenter alleged that Perry took her into the living room at knifepoint and made her sit there 

for 50 minutes, not moving, while he paced in front of her and made plans to kill her. Id. 

Carpenter claimed that Perry grabbed her car keys from the living room and marched her to the 

bathroom. Finally, she claims that Perry threatened her, saying that he would kill her if she left the 

bathroom before she heard the garage door close. TT1 at 58-62. 

During the investigation of this case, blood samples were impounded from the crime scene. 

(See Crime Scene Investigation Report, attached hereto as Exhibit 1; see also Evidence Impound 

Report, attached hereto as Exhibit 2.) The knife, which had blood on it, was impounded as well. (See 

Id.). Genetic marker analysis was not conducted on these items. Latent print analysis of the knife was 

not conducted. (See Id.). 

Perry attempted to present a self-defense case with the assertion that it was Carpenter who 

attacked Perry with the knife and Perry acted in self-defense. TT1 at 10;  TT2 at 63-64. This defense 

was thwarted by the Court’s error in denying Perry the opportunity to present evidence of Carpenter’s 

past violent history as well as his proposed self-defense instruction. TT2 at 63-64; TT3 at 3-6.  The 

Nevada Supreme Court held that the District Court’s failure to allow Perry a self-defense instruction 

was error. (See Order of Affirmance Case No.69139, attached hereto as Exhibit3). However, the 

Supreme Court held that this error was harmless due to the evidence presented against Perry at trial. 

Id. 
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III.  LAW 

NRS 176.0918 states: 

 

1. A person convicted of a felony who otherwise meets the requirements of 

this section may file a post-conviction petition requesting a genetic marker 

analysis of evidence within the possession or custody of the State which may 

contain genetic marker information relating to the investigation or 

prosecution that resulted in the judgment of conviction. If the case involves a 

sentence of death, the petition must include, without limitation, the date 

scheduled for the execution, if it has been scheduled. 

 

2. Such a petition must be filed with the clerk of the district court for the 

county in which the petitioner was convicted on a form prescribed by the 

Department of Corrections. A copy of the petition must be served by 

registered mail upon: 

 

 

 

(a) The Attorney General; and 

 

(b) The district attorney in the county in which the petitioner was convicted. 

 

3. A petition filed pursuant to this section must be accompanied by a 

declaration under penalty of perjury attesting that the information contained 

in the petition does not contain any material misrepresentation of fact and 

that the petitioner has a good faith basis relying on particular facts for the 

request. The petition must include, without limitation: 

 

(a) Information identifying specific evidence either known or believed to be 

in the possession or custody of the State that can be subject to genetic marker 

analysis; 

 

(b) The rationale for why a reasonable possibility exists that the petitioner 

would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory results had been 

obtained through a genetic marker analysis of the evidence identified in 

paragraph (a); 

 

(c) An identification of the type of genetic marker analysis the petitioner is 

requesting to be conducted on the evidence identified in paragraph (a); 

 

(d) If applicable, the results of all prior genetic marker analysis performed on 

evidence in the trial which resulted in the petitioner’s conviction; and 

 

(e) A statement that the type of genetic marker analysis the petitioner is 

requesting was not available at the time of trial or, if it was available, that the AA299
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 6 

failure to request genetic marker analysis before the petitioner was convicted 

was not a result of a strategic or tactical decision as part of the representation 

of the petitioner at the trial. 

 

4. If a petition is filed pursuant to this section, the court may: 

 

(a) Enter an order dismissing the petition without a hearing if the court 

determines, based on the information contained in the petition, that the 

petitioner does not meet the requirements set forth in this section; 

 

(b) After determining whether the petitioner is indigent pursuant to NRS 

171.188 and whether counsel was appointed in the case which resulted in the 

conviction, appoint counsel for the limited purpose of reviewing, 

supplementing and presenting the petition to the court; or 

 

(c) Schedule a hearing on the petition. If the court schedules a hearing on the 

petition, the court shall determine which person or agency has possession or 

custody of the evidence and shall immediately issue an order requiring, 

during the pendency of the proceeding, each person or agency in possession 

or custody of the evidence to: 

 

 

(1) Preserve all evidence within the possession or custody of the person or 

agency that may be subjected to genetic marker analysis pursuant to this 

section; 

 

(2) Within 90 days, prepare an inventory of all evidence relevant to the 

claims in the petition within the possession or custody of the person or 

agency that may be subjected to genetic marker analysis pursuant to this 

section; and 

 

(3) Within 90 days, submit a copy of the inventory to the petitioner, the 

prosecuting attorney and the court. 

 

5. Within 90 days after the inventory of all evidence is prepared pursuant to 

subsection 4, the prosecuting attorney may file a written response to the 

petition with the court. 

 

6. If the court holds a hearing on a petition filed pursuant to this section, the 

hearing must be presided over by the judge who conducted the trial that 

resulted in the conviction of the petitioner, unless that judge is unavailable. 

Any evidence presented at the hearing by affidavit must be served on the 

opposing party at least 15 days before the hearing. 

 

7. If a petitioner files a petition pursuant to this section, the court schedules a 

hearing on the petition and a victim of the crime for which the petitioner was 

convicted has requested notice pursuant to NRS 178.5698, the district 

attorney in the county in which the petitioner was convicted shall provide to 

the victim notice of: AA300



 
 
  1 
 
  2 
 
  3 
 
  4 
 
  5 
 
  6 
 
  7 
 
  8 
 
  9 
 
10 
 
11 
 
12 
 
13 
 
14 
 
15 
 
16 
 
17 
 
18 
 
19 
 
20 
 
21 
 
22 
 
23 
 
24 
 
25 
 
26 
 
27 
 
28 

 
 

 7 

 

(a) The fact that the petitioner filed a petition pursuant to this section; 

 

(b) The time and place of the hearing scheduled by the court as a result of the 

petition; and 

 

(c) The outcome of any hearing on the petition. 

Nev. Rev. State §176.0918 (2013). 

Perry argues in Ground Two of his Petition that his counsel was ineffective for failing to 

investigate Perry’s self-defense claims. Specifically, Perry alleges that his counsel was ineffective for 

failing to request genetic marker analysis of the blood samples taken from the crimes scene as well as 

examination of the knife for latent fingerprints. Had counsel done so, Perry alleges that the results 

would show that it was Carpenter who had the knife in her hand and that he was cut with said knife. 

Additionally but not subject to the instant motion, Perry claims his counsel was ineffective for failing 

to present medical evidence showing that Perry was cut with the knife during this altercation. This 

evidence would have supported his self-defense claim. Given the fact that the Supreme Court of 

Nevada found that it was error for the District Court to preclude Perry from giving a self-defense 

instruction without this additional evidence of his injuries and genetic marker analysis, had the District 

Court heard this evidence, it would have surely allowed Perry to give a self-defense instruction. 

Without the self-defense instruction, Perry had no chance of being found not guilty due to self-

defense. 

In order for Perry to properly allege that his attorney was ineffective for failing to investigate 

his self-defense claims, he must demonstrate how such proposed investigation would have rendered a 

more favorable outcome. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 87 P.3d 533 (2004). Therefore, Perry moves 

this Court for an order directing the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to conduct latent print 

analysis on the knife (Item #1/Package #1) impounded from the crime scene and compare the prints to 

the prints of both Genaro Perry and Corla Carpenter; and also an order, pursuant to NRS 176.0918, 

directing the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to conduct genetic marker analysis of the  AA301
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 8 

 

blood on the knife (Item #1/Package #1) and blood samples and knife impounded from the scene 

(Items #2 and #3/Package #2) and compare results against the genetic markers of both Genaro Perry 

and Corla Carpenter. 

 

DATED this __3
rd

 _ day of February, 2021. 

       

 

_/s/ Jean Schwartzer________________ 
      JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

 Nevada Bar No. 011223 
LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER 
170 S. Green Valley Parkway #300 
Henderson, NV 89012 
Phone: 702-979-9941 
jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED by the undersigned that on  3
rd

  day of February, 2021, I served 

a true and correct copy of the foregoing MOTION REQUESTING ORDER  

DIRECTING THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT TO CONDUCT GENETIC 

MARKER AND LATENT PRINT ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE IMPOUNDED AT CRIME SCENE on the parties 

listed on the attached service list via one or more of the methods of service described below as 

indicated next to the name of the served individual or entity by a checked box: 

VIA U.S. MAIL: by placing a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope with postage thereon 
fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
VIA FACSIMILE: by transmitting to a facsimile machine maintained by the attorney or the party 
who has filed a written consent for such manner of service. 
 
BY PERSONAL SERVICE: by personally hand-delivering or causing to be hand delivered by such 
designated individual whose particular duties include delivery of such on behalf of the firm, addressed 
to the individual(s) listed, signed by such individual or his/her  representative accepting on his/her 
behalf.  A receipt of copy signed and dated by such an individual confirming delivery of the document 
will be maintained with the document and is attached. 
 

BY E-MAIL: by transmitting a copy of the document in the format to be used for attachments to the 

electronic-mail address designated by the attorney or the party who has filed a written consent for such 

manner of service. 
 

    BY: /s/ Jean J. Schwartzer   

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 11223 

Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer, Ltd. 

170 S. Green Valley Parkway, #300 

Henderson, Nevada 89012 
Phone: (702) 979-9941 
jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 

Attorney for Defendant 
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SERVICE LIST 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

ATTORNEYS 

OF RECORD 

PARTIES 

REPRESENTED 

METHOD OF 

SERVICE 

 

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT 

ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

200 E. Lewis Ave 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 

Alexander.chen@clarkcountyda.com 

 

 

State of Nevada 

 

     Personal service 

     Email service 

     Fax service 

     Mail service 
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.S VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMEN 

CRIME SCENE INVESTIGATION REPORT 

Incide nt Sector/Beat l Event Number 

Battery with Substantial Bodily Harm H2 140501-1127 

Requesting Officer Division Date \Time 

A. Bragg #4150 PD 05/01 /2014 1028 

Victim(s) Lccation (s) 

Coria Caprenter (DOB- 08/29/1975) 2461 Old Forge Lane #106 

Connecting Reports and Related Event Numbers 

~ Evidence Impound Report 

0 Related Event Number(s}: 

D Firearms Report D Officer's Report □---------
------------------------------

DOCUMENTATION 

181 Crime Scene Photography D Comparative Photography 

D Aerial Photography O • .Qiagcam(s} 

D ------------------

LATENT PRINT EVIDENCE 

D Processing Conducted 

D Lift(s) / Cast(s) 

0 Photograph(s) 

CJ Eliminations 

0 Negative Results 

□ ------------------
FIREARMS EVIDENCE 

0 Bul let(s) / Fragment(s) 

Cl Cariridge Case (s) 

0 Cartridge(s) 

0 Weapon(s) 

D --------------------

VEHICLE{S): 
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
The Scene-

FOOTWEAR AND TIRE EVIDENCE 

0 Footwear 

0 lift(s) / Cast(s) 

D Photograph(s) 

BIOLOGICAL EVIDENCE 

0 Apparent Blood 

□ Possible DNA 

~ Sw2b(s) 

0 Buccal Swabs 

TOOL MARK EVIDENCE 

□ Cast(s) 
0 Photograph(s) 

OTHER 

0 Tire 

0 Original Surface(s) 

D Exemplar(s) 

□ Apparent Semen 

0 Unknown Substance(s) 

~ Original Surface(s) 

0 

D Original ~~r;face(s) 
0 Tool (s) ~ 

.TJ 

--' 

: _c 
G) 

The scene was located in the above listed two story condominium. The front door faced south. 

There was apparent blood on the floor of the north central kitchen , on tissue on the east kitchen counter, on the north wall 
of the northwest bathroom and on the west side of the door frame to the northwest bathroom (A sample of whi ch is Item 
#2). There was also apparent blood on bedding on the bed along the south wall of the west master bedroom (A sample of 

which is Item #3 ). 

There was a steak knife with a black handle and 4.5" blade with apparent blood (Item #1} on the ground at the northeast 
corner of the west garage . 

Photography-

Color digi•a1 images were recorded to show the address location and overall cond ition of the scene as described above. 

Approved P# 

LVMPQ IS06 (Rev. 1211 3) WORD 201 0 Page 1 of 2 

AA306



In cident: 

Evidence-

. ,-<S VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMEN · .. .:: 

CRIME SCENE INVESTIGATION REPORT 
CONTINUATION 

Battery with Substantial 
Bodily Harm Event Number: 140501-1127 

The above listed items were recovered and impounded as evidence. Samples from the stains in which Item #2 and Item 
#3 were recovered . were tested with Phenolphthalein, a presumptive test for blood, with positive resu lts. 

No further at th is time . 

Page 2 of 2 

-c: 

m 

-0 
::::3 

N 

P# 

12712 AA307
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.S VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMEII. 

EVIDENCE IMPOUND REPORT 

Incident: 

Battery with Substantial Bodily Harm 

Vic!irn (s): 

Coria Carpenter (DOB- 08/29/1975) 

loc.atic n: 

2461 Old Forge Ln . 

Veh icle (s): 

Additional Information: 

Description of Evidence 

Package #1 

Item #1- One (1) steak knife with a black hand le and 4.5" 
biade with apparent b lood . 

Package #2 

Item t2- One (1 ) swab w ith apparent blood . 

Item #3- One (1) swab w ith apparent blood. 

I Da;e5/0 1/20 14 

location of Recovered Evidence 

On the ground at the northeast corner of the west garage. 

On the west side of the door frame to the northwest 
bathroom. 

On bedding on the bed along the south wall of the west 
master bedroom. 

Note- Samples of the stains from which Item #2 and Item #3 were recovered were tested with Pheno lphthalein, a 
presumptive test for blood, with positive results. 

Approved: 
D. Keller 

LVMPD TSD10 (Rev. 12/13) WORD 2010 Page 1 of 1 

en 
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RSPN 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
KAREN MISHLER 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #013730  
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
    Plaintiff, 
 
  -vs- 
 
GENARO RICHARD PERRY, 
#1456173  
 
              Defendant. 

 

CASE NO: 

DEPT NO: 

C-14-298879-1 

VI 

 
STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION REQUESTING ORDER 
DIRECTING THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT  

TO CONDUCT GENETIC MARKER AND LATENT FINGERPRINT ANALYSIS 
OF EVIDENCE IMPOUNDED AT CRIME SCENE 

 
DATE OF HEARING:  FEBRUARY 17, 2021 

TIME OF HEARING:  11:00 A.M. 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County 

District Attorney, through KAREN MISHLER, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby 

submits the attached Points and Authorities in Response to Defendant’s Motion Requesting 

Order Directing the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to Conduct Genetic Marker 

and Latent Fingerprint Analysis of Evidence Impounded at Crime Scene. 

This Response is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if 

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

// 

// 

Case Number: C-14-298879-1

Electronically Filed
2/11/2021 1:34 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 15, 2014, Defendant Genaro Richard Perry (“Defendant”) was charged by way 

of Information with seven felonies. The victim listed for all seven felonies was Corla 

Carpenter, with whom he had previously been in a dating relationship. The Defendant waived 

his right to a jury and requested a bench trial. The bench trial commenced on September 29, 

2015. On October 1, 2015, Defendant was found guilty of all seven counts. On January 6, 

2016, he was sentenced to the Nevada Department of Corrections as follows: 
 

1. Count 1 – Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon – a maximum of 120 months and 

minimum of 36 months, plus a consecutive sentence of maximum of 120 months 

and minimum of 36 months for the use of a deadly weapon. 

 

2. Count 2 – False Imprisonment with Use of a Deadly Weapon – a maximum of 60 

months and minimum of 18 months, concurrent with Count 1. 

 

3. Count 3 – Grand Larceny Auto – a maximum of 96 months and minimum of 24 

months, consecutive to Counts 1 and 2. 

 

4. Count 4 – Assault with a Deadly Weapon – a maximum of 60 months and minimum 

of 18 months, concurrent with Count 3. 

 

5. Count 5 – Coercion – a maximum of 60 months and minimum of 18 months, 

concurrent with Count 4. 

 

6. Count 6 – Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm Constituting Domestic 

Violence – a maximum of 48 months and minimum of 18 months, concurrent with 

Count 5. 

 

7. Count 7 – Preventing or Dissuading Witness or Victim from Reporting Crime or 

Commencing Prosecution – a maximum of 36 months and minimum of 12 months, 

concurrent with Count 6. 
 
 

Defendant’s total aggregate sentence was a maximum of 330 months and a minimum 

of 96 months. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on January 22, 2016. Defendant filed a 

Notice of Appeal on November 4, 2015. On December 14, 2016, the Nevada Court of Appeals 

affirmed Defendant’s convictions. Perry v. State, Docket No. 69139-COA (Order of 
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Affirmance, Dec. 14, 2016). Remittitur issued on February 2, 2017. On February 7, 2017, 

Defendant filed a pro per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). On April 7, 

2017, the State filed its Response. On April 24, 2017, the Court granted Defendant’s request 

for the appointment of counsel, and on May 1, 2017, Jean J. Schwartzer, Esq. affirmed as 

Defendant’s counsel. No supplemental post-conviction petition has ever been filed in this case. 

On September 9, 2019 - the most recent status check on the post-conviction proceedings - the 

matter was taken off calendar. Defendant’s pro per Petition remains pending. 

On February 3, 2021, Defendant filed the instant Motion Requesting Order Directing 

The Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department To Conduct Genetic Marker And Latent 

Fingerprint Analysis Of Evidence Impounded At Crime Scene (“Motion”). The State responds 

as follows. 

ARGUMENT 

 

I. DEFENDANT HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED HE IS ENTITLED TO 

GENETIC MARKER TESTING 

Five years after his convictions, Defendant requests this Court order the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department to perform a genetic marker and latent print analysis on 

certain items of evidence impounded from the crime scene. Defendant cites NRS 176.0918 in 

support of this request, yet blatantly ignores the requirements of this statute. Because 

Defendant fails entirely to meet the statutory requirements, and also requests testing not 

provided for in this statute, the State requests this Court deny the Motion. 

Defendant has the burden of meeting the requirements of NRS 176.0918. NRS 

176.0918(3) states, in pertinent part:  

     

A petition filed pursuant to this section must be accompanied by a 

declaration under penalty of perjury attesting that the information 

contained in the petition does not contain any material misrepresentation 

of fact and that the defendant has a good faith basis relying on particular 

facts for the request. The petition must include, without limitation: 
 

(a) Information identifying specific evidence either known or believed to 

be in the possession or custody of the State that can be subject to genetic 

marker analysis; 
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(b) The rationale for why a reasonable possibility exists that the defendant 

would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory results had 

been obtained through a genetic marker analysis of the evidence identified 

in paragraph (a); 

(c) An identification of the type of genetic marker analysis the defendant 

is requesting to be conducted on the evidence identified in paragraph (a); 

(d) If applicable, the results of all prior genetic marker analysis performed 

on evidence in the trial which resulted in the defendant’s conviction; and 

(e) A statement that the type of genetic marker analysis the defendant is 

requesting was not available at the time of trial or, if it was available, that 

the failure to request genetic marker analysis before the defendant was 

convicted was not a result of a strategic or tactical decision as part of the 

representation of the defendant at the trial. 
 
(emphasis added). Further, NRS 176.0918(4) states in pertinent part:  
 

If a petition is filed pursuant to this section, the court may: 
 

(a) Enter an order dismissing the petition without a hearing if the court 

determines, based on the information contained in the petition, that the 

defendant does not meet the requirements set forth in this section. 

A. Defendant has failed to provide a declaration under penalty of perjury 

As an initial matter, the Motion is not accompanied by a declaration under penalty of 

perjury, as required by NRS 176.0918(3). It is Defendant’s responsibility to file a petition that 

complies with all of the requirements in NRS 176.0918. This failure alone should preclude 

consideration of the Petition and require its dismissal pursuant to NRS 176.0918(4). 
 

B. Defendant has failed to demonstrate a reasonable possibility exists that he 

would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory results had been 

obtained through a genetic marker analysis 

Defendant has failed entirely to even address this requirement of NRS 176.0918(3). 

This is perhaps unsurprising, because even if the results Defendant predicts were obtained 

through genetic marker testing, such results would not be exculpatory and would not have 

prevented him from being prosecuted.  

Defendant requests genetic marker testing of the blood samples impounded from the 

crime scene:  the apparent blood from the steak knife (Item #1 in Package #1), and two swabs 

of apparent blood (Package #2, Items #2 and #3). Motion, at 7-8, Exhibit 2. Defendant asks 
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that these samples be compared against his own genetic markers as well as those of Carpenter. 

Motion, at 8. Defendant contends that such testing would show that he was cut with the knife, 

and that Carpenter had the knife in her hand. Motion, at 7. 

Even if the blood on the knife and the blood samples matched Defendant’s genetic 

markers, at most it would show that Defendant left his blood at the scene, and would not be 

exculpatory. Finding Defendant’s blood on the knife or elsewhere at the crime scene would 

not prove that Carpenter cut Defendant with the knife; Defendant could have cut himself with 

the knife in the course of committing the crime. Carpenter also testified during trial that she 

bit Defendant while he was attacking her; this could have resulted in Defendant bleeding. Trial 

Transcript, Day 1, p. 48. The only relevance of the knife to this case was as the deadly weapon 

enhancement for the Robbery, False Imprisonment, and Assault With Deadly Weapon 

charges. Information, filed June 25, 2014. 

Although Carpenter did testify at trial that Defendant cut her with the knife, Defendant 

was not charged or convicted of any battery involving the knife. Trial Transcript, Day 1, p. 53. 

Count 6 alleged that Defendant committed Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm 

Constituting Domestic Violence by striking Carpenter’s head against the floor and/or by 

kicking her repeatedly in the face. Information, filed June 25, 2014. There was substantial 

evidence presented at trial to support a finding of guilt as to this offense. Any testing of the 

knife or blood found at the scene would not call this evidence into serious question. 

Carpenter testified that, the morning after she allowed Defendant to spend the night at 

her residence, Defendant punched her in the face, and then kicked her in the back as she fled 

from him. Trial Transcript, Day 1, pp. 43-51. Defendant kicked and punched her while she 

was in a fetal position on the floor. Id. at 51-52. Carpenter sustained a broken nose, an orbital 

fracture, hip damage, and the loss of two teeth. Id. at 15, 66-70. Evidence of Carpenter’s 

injuries at trial was introduced through her own testimony, photographs taken of Carpenter, 

testimony from the responding police officer, and testimony from the surgeon who repaired 

Carpenter’s orbital fracture. Id. at 15-37, 66-70, 76, 78; Trial Transcript, Day 2, p. 21.    
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Carpenter’s surgeon testified that Carpenter required surgery because her eyeball had sunk 

back into her eye socket. Trial Transcript, Day 1, p. 18. 

Thus, the presence of Defendant’s blood at the scene, if found, would not call his guilt 

into serious question, given the documentation of the severe injuries Carpenter received.1 A 

genetic marker match between Defendant and the blood at the scene would not exculpate him 

from any of the charges for which he was convicted. 

Even assuming in arguendo that a match between Defendant’s genetic markers and 

blood found at the scene would support his self-defense theory, this is not a sufficient basis 

for ordering testing under NRS 176.0918. A request for testing under this statute must 

demonstrate more than a mere possibility that such testing could theoretically support a 

defense to the charges; it requires a demonstration of a reasonable possibility that the 

defendant would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory results had been 

obtained through a genetic marker analysis.  

Similarly, Defendant’s contention that genetic marker testing would assist him in 

demonstrating ineffective assistance of counsel is not a valid basis for ordering testing under 

NRS 176.0918. The requirements of NRS 176.0918(3) make clear that the purpose of testing 

is to obtain exculpatory evidence, not to gather evidence to support allegations of ineffective 

assistance of counsel. Allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel must be raised in a Post-

Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and are not appropriately addressed in the 

current motion. NRS 34.724(2)(b); Harris v. State, 130 Nev. 435, 445, 329 P.3d 619, 626 

(2014); Gibbons v. State, 97 Nev. 520, 521, 634 P.2d 1214, 1216 (1981). 
 
 

C. Defendant has failed to provide a statement regarding the availability of 

genetic marker analysis at the time of trial 

NRS 176.0918(e) requires a petition requesting genetic marker analysis to include a 

“statement that the type of genetic marker analysis the defendant is requesting was not 

available at the time of trial or, if it was available, that the failure to request genetic marker 

1Defendant does not explain how his self-defense theory or the presence of his blood at the scene relates to his convictions 

for Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon, Grand Larceny Auto, Coercion, or Preventing or Dissuading Witness. As he 

focuses solely on the knife and the blood at the scene, the State presumes that Defendant does not intend to challenge his 

convictions for these offenses via any genetic or latent print testing. AA324



analysis before the defendant was convicted was not a result of a strategic or tactical decision 

as part of the representation of the defendant at the trial.” Defendant has failed entirely to 

address this requirement. Perhaps this is unsurprising, as had trial counsel requested genetic 

testing, it easily could have produced evidence that corroborated Carpenter’s testimony at trial-

namely, that Defendant cut her with the knife, resulting in her blood on the knife’s blade, and 

that it was her blood on the wall. Defendant’s complete failure to meet this requirement 

requires summary dismissal of the Motion. 
 

II. DEFENDANT HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED THAT HE IS ENTITLED 

TO LATENT FINGERPRINT ANALYSIS 

 

A. NRS 176.0918 does not provide for latent fingerprint testing 

The only statute Defendant cites to support his motion is NRS 176.0918. This statute 

sets forth the procedure and criteria for a convicted person to request genetic marker analysis 

of evidence. It authorizes no other form of evidence testing. As Defendant has failed to provide 

any legal basis for his request for latent fingerprint analysis, this request must be denied.2 

 

B. Even if latent fingerprint testing could be requested pursuant to NRS 

176.0918, latent fingerprint testing of the knife cannot lead to 

exculpatory evidence in this case. 

Defendant appears to believe that latent fingerprint analysis would reveal Carpenter’s 

fingerprints on the steak knife that was found at the scene. Motion, at 7. Such a finding would 

hardly be surprising, as the knife belonged to Carpenter. In fact, Carpenter testified at trial that 

she had used the knife the evening before the crime to eat her steak dinner, and after eating 

she had left the knife on the kitchen stove. Trial Transcript, Day 1, p. 53. Thus, Carpenter’s 

fingerprints on the knife would clearly not constitute exculpatory evidence in this case. 

Similarly, the absence of Defendant’s fingerprints on the knife would be in no way 

2Should Defendant claim that he is requesting latent fingerprint analysis as discovery related to his pending post-conviction 

proceeding, he has also not demonstrated he is entitled to discovery. There is no constitutional right to discovery in post-

conviction proceedings. DA’s Office v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52, 69-70, 129 S. Ct. 2308, 2320-21 (2009). Even in the federal 

system, “[a] habeas defendant, unlike the usual civil litigant in federal court, is not entitled to discovery as a matter of 

ordinary course.” Bracy v. Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 904, 117 S. Ct. 1793, 1796-97 (1997). In Nevada, discovery is only 

available in post-conviction proceedings upon a judicial determination of good cause justifying it and after an evidentiary 

hearing has been set. NRS 34.780(2).  
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exculpatory, as it would not prove Defendant did not handle the knife nor would it support his 

self-defense claim. It is also unclear whether the knife was impounded in a manner preserving 

it for latent fingerprint analysis. There is no mention of visible prints or the preservation of 

potential fingerprints in either the Crime Scene Investigation Report or the Evidence Impound 

Report. Motion, Exhibits 1 and 2. There is simply no basis for granting Defendant’s request 

for fingerprint analysis. 
 

III. SHOULD THE COURT DECIDE TO HEAR DEFENDANT’S MOTION 

ON THE MERITS, THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO FILE AN 

OPPOSITION UNDER NRS 176.0918(5). 

NRS 176.0918(4)(c) states, in relevant part: 
     

 4.  If a petition is filed pursuant to this section, the court may: 

      (c) Schedule a hearing on the petition. If the court schedules a hearing on 

the petition, the court shall determine which person or agency has possession or 

custody of the evidence and shall immediately issue an order requiring, during 

the pendency of the proceeding, each person or agency in possession or custody 

of the evidence to: 

             (1) Preserve all evidence within the possession or custody of the person 

or agency that may be subjected to genetic marker analysis pursuant to this 

section; 

             (2) Within 90 days, prepare an inventory of all evidence relevant to the 

claims in the petition within the possession or custody of the person or agency 

that may be subjected to genetic marker analysis pursuant to this section; and 

             (3) Within 90 days, submit a copy of the inventory to the defendant, the 

prosecuting attorney and the court. 
 

 Further, NRS 176.0918(5) states: 
 

Within 90 days after the inventory of all evidence is prepared pursuant to 

subsection 4, the prosecuting attorney may file a written response to the petition 

with the court. 
 

Even if the court wished to consider Defendant’s claims, it would be premature to issue 

the requested orders because no inventory has been completed. The items Defendant wishes 

to have tested were impounded nearly seven years ago, and it is unknown if these items are 

still in the custody of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department.         

/ / /                                          
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Furthermore, the State notes that Defendant has requested comparisons of the blood 

samples and fingerprints with Carpenter’s fingerprints and genetic markers. None of the 

documentation attached to the instant Motion suggests that the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department is in possession a genetic sample or fingerprint exemplar from Carpenter that 

could be used for such comparisons. The State has no reason to believe such a sample is in the 

possession of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. NRS 176.0918 authorizes 

testing of evidence that already exists; it is not intended as a mechanism for gathering new 

evidence. NRS 176.0918 does not empower this Court to compel an order for an individual to 

provide a genetic sample or fingerprint exemplar. Even if it did, this would likely run afoul of 

the Fourth Amendment. 

Should the Court decide to hear Defendant’s petition on the merits, under NRS 

176.0918(4) the Court must allow for 90 days to prepare an inventory of all evidence relevant 

to the claims. Within 90 days after such an inventory is prepared, the State has the ability to 

file an opposition. Although it is the State’s position that Defendant’s petition must be 

dismissed for its failure to comply with statutory requirements, the State reserves the right to 

file an opposition pursuant to NRS 176.0918(5) should this Court decide to hear Defendant’s 

petition on the merits. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests Defendant’s Motion 

Requesting Order Directing the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department to Conduct 

Genetic Marker and Latent Fingerprint Analysis of Evidence Impounded at Crime Scene be 

DENIED. 

DATED this 11th day of February, 2021. 
 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
 

 
 BY /s/ Karen Mishler 
  KAREN MISHLER 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #013730  
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 11th day of 

February, 2021, by electronic transmission, through Odyssey eFileNV EfileAndServe, to: 
 
         JEAN SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 
         Email Address: jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 
 

  BY: /s/ Jennifer Georges 
  Secretary for the District Attorney's Office 
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ORDR 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
KAREN MISHLER 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #013730  
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
             Plaintiff, 
 
  -vs- 
 
GENARO RICHARD PERRY, 
#1456173  
   
                                  Defendant. 
 

 

CASE NO: 
 
DEPT NO: 

C-14-298879-1 
 
VI 

 
ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION REQUESTING ORDER 

DIRECTING THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT  
TO CONDUCT GENETIC MARKER AND LATENT FINGERPRINT ANALYSIS 

OF EVIDENCE IMPOUNDED AT CRIME SCENE 
 

DATE OF HEARING:  February 17, 2021 
TIME OF HEARING:  11:00 A.M. 

THIS MATTER having come on for hearing before the above entitled Court on the 

17th day of February, 2021, the Defendant not being present, represented by JEAN 

SCHWARTZER, ESQ., the Plaintiff being represented by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District 

Attorney, through KAREN MISHLER, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and the Court having 

heard the arguments of counsel, based on the pleadings, and good cause appearing therefore, 

the Court hereby RULES as follows: 

The instant Motion was made pursuant to NRS 176.0918. The Court has waived the 

requirement contained in NRS 176.0918(3) that a petition filed pursuant to this statute must 

contain a declaration under penalty of perjury.  

Electronically Filed
04/16/2021 4:40 PM

Case Number: C-14-298879-1

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
4/16/2021 4:40 PM
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As to the Defendant’s request for fingerprint analysis, NRS 176.0918 does not 

authorize a court to order testing or analysis of latent fingerprints. No other statute or legal 

basis was offered to support the request for latent fingerprint analysis.  

Furthermore, even if the victim’s fingerprints were found on the knife, this would not 

be exculpatory, because the victim testified at trial that she owned the knife and had used it 

the evening before.  

Accordingly, the request for an order directing the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department to conduct latent fingerprint analysis of the evidence impounded in this case is 

denied.  

As to the request for genetic marker analysis, the Court finds that if such testing were 

conducted, and the results anticipated by Defendant were obtained, such results would not 

rise to a reasonable possibility that the Defendant would not have been prosecuted or 

convicted. See NRS 176.0918(3)(b).  

Even if the blood on the knife and the blood samples matched Defendant’s genetic 

markers, at most it would show that Defendant left his blood at the scene. Such results would 

not exculpate him of guilt as to the crimes for which he was convicted.  

Accordingly, the request for an order directing the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department to conduct genetic marker analysis of the evidence impounded in this case is 

denied. 

 
 
   

   
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
 
 
 
BY /s/ Karen Mishler 
 KAREN MISHLER 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #013730 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-14-298879-1State of Nevada

vs

Genaro Perry

DEPT. NO.  Department 6

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 4/16/2021

Clark County District Attorney's Office . PDMotions@clarkcountyda.com

Patricia Pinotti . plpinotti@gmail.com

Travis Shetler . travisshetler@gmail.com

Jean Schwartzer jean.schwartzer@gmail.com
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NOASC 
JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11223 
LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, Ltd. 
170 S Green Valley Parkway #300 
Henderson, NV 89012 
Phone: 702-979-9941 
jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 
 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE 

STATE OF NEVADA FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK 

 
 

GENARO RICHARD PERRY, 

 Petitioner, 

 vs. 

RENEE BAKER, WARDEN 

Lovelock Correctional Center, 

 Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C298879-1 
 
Dept No.: VI 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
) 
) 

 

 
NOTICE OF APPEAL 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that GENARO RICHARD PERRY, defendant above named, 

hereby appeals to the Supreme Court of Nevada from the denial of his MOTION REQUESTING 

ORDER DIRECTING THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT TO CONDUCT 

GENETIC MARKER AND LATENT PRINT ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE IMPOUNDED AT CRIME SCENE 

entered in this action on the 16
th

 day of April, 2021.  

DATED this   14
th

   day of May, 2021. 

   
 
      _/s/ Jean J. Schwartzer_______ 

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 11223 

LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER 

Counsel for Appellant 

 

Case Number: C-14-298879-1

Electronically Filed
5/14/2021 5:39 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

Electronically Filed
May 19 2021 08:54 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED by the undersigned that on  14
th 

day of  

May, 2021, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF APPEAL on the parties 

listed on the attached service list via one or more of the methods of service described below as 

indicated next to the name of the served individual or entity by a checked box: 

VIA U.S. MAIL: by placing a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope with postage thereon 
fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
VIA FACSIMILE: by transmitting to a facsimile machine maintained by the attorney or the party 
who has filed a written consent for such manner of service. 
 
BY PERSONAL SERVICE: by personally hand-delivering or causing to be hand delivered by such 
designated individual whose particular duties include delivery of such on behalf of the firm, 
addressed to the individual(s) listed, signed by such individual or his/her  representative accepting on 
his/her behalf.  A receipt of copy signed and dated by such an individual confirming delivery of the 
document will be maintained with the document and is attached. 
 

BY E-MAIL: by transmitting a copy of the document in the format to be used for attachments to the 

electronic-mail address designated by the attorney or the party who has filed a written consent for 

such manner of service. 

 

 

 

 

    By: 

_/s/ Jean J. Schwartzer_______ 

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 11223 

LAW OFFICE OF JEAN J. SCHWARTZER 

10620 Southern Highlands Parkway, Suite 110-473 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 

(702) 979-9941 

Counsel for Appellant 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
  STATE OF NEVADA 
 
                             Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
  GENARO RICHARD PERRY, 
 
                             Defendant. 

 

  
  CASE NO.  C-14-298879-1 
 
  DEPT.  VI 
 
 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JACQUELINE M. BLUTH, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 2021 
 

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS:  PETITIONER’S MOTION 
REQUESTING ORDER DIRECTING THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE 

DEPARTMENT TO CONDUCT GENETIC MARKER AND LATENT PRINT 
ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE IMPOUNDED AT CRIME SCENE 

(Via audio ~ Via BlueJeans) 
 

APPEARANCES: 
 

  For the State:   KAREN LYNN MISHLER, ESQ. 
     Chief Deputy District Attorney 
 
  For the Defendant:   JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. 
 
 
 
 
RECORDED BY:  DE’AWNA TAKAS, COURT RECORDER 
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Wednesday, February 17, 2021, Las Vegas, Nevada 

 

[Proceedings began at 1:54 a.m.] 

 THE COURT:  -- he is not present, in custody in Nevada Department 

of Correction.  C298879 Ms. Schwartzer is present on his behalf via BlueJeans.  

And do I have Ms. Mishler -- on behalf of the State on this matter?   

 I’m sorry Ms. Mishler you’re muted.   

 Ms. Mishler can you unmute yourself for me? 

 MS. MISHLER:  Sorry about that.  

 THE COURT:  That’s okay. 

 MS. MISHLER:  Karen Mishler, bar number 13730. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you. 

 Okay.  All right so I’ve had the opportunity to read through everything.  

Ms. Schwartzer, I mean, I think the one easiest argument, right, the State makes 

is that the -- proper affidavit or documentation wasn’t filed therefore the Court 

shouldn’t be able to consider it.  So while I recognize that that’s definitely the law, I 

also feel like you could just go easily file that and refile this.  So I’m hesitant to just 

say, well I’m just denying it because -- knowing all the work you’ve put into this I 

know you’re just gonna go file an affidavit and refile this.  So I don’t -- 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Well, and Your Honor, -- 

 THE COURT:  -- have any.  Go ahead. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Sorry. 

 THE COURT:  No that’s okay. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Also, Your Honor, you know, my client attached 

a declaration to his petition for writ habeas corpus wherein he makes, essentially, 

AA336



 

-3- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

the same arguments.  They might not, you know, they’re drafted by an attorney, 

but it’s the same argument.  And so I would just ask that Your Honor take judicial 

notice of that declaration and apply it to this motion.  But, you’re right, I could just 

go get a declaration from him if that is what you want me to do. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.   

 So I do wanna hear it on -- I wanna hear the petition on its merits 

today.  And if you could -- Ms. Schwartzer if you could address the State’s 

opposition -- in regards to, you know, the even if you got what you wanted, I 

mean, the latent prints are one issue, right?  The blood is a different.  But even if 

you got this testing -- done, it wouldn’t necessarily show -- that the petitioner 

would’ve been -- would not have been prosecuted or wouldn’t have been 

convicted, because it wouldn’t have that exculpatory nature that is needed under 

the statute.  Could you address that? 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Yes, Your Honor.  So the argument that my 

client is making -- is that, you know, his trial attorney didn’t properly investigate his 

self-defense claims.  His self-defense claim is that the -- Ms. Carpenter, is the one 

who had the knife, she came at him and he acted in self-defense.  Now, co-

counsel attempted to present a self-defense case at trial and he wasn’t really 

allowed to.  It was a bench trial.  The Court would not allow a self-defense 

instruction and the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that there was some evidence of 

self-defense and that he should’ve received an instruction.   

 I believe that if the forensic evidence shows that it’s her finger prints 

on the knife, not his, and that it’s his blood on the knife, not hers, combined with 

evidence of his injuries that he sustained, which CCDC would have, that would 

support his self-defense claim.  And if-in-fact this was all done at the pre-trial 
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stage, he may have, in fact, gotten that self-defense instruction and it would’ve 

changed the outcome of trial. 

 You know interestingly in response to Mr. Perry’s petition on ground 2, 

the State argues that defendant fails to demonstrate how further forensic 

investigation would’ve rendered a more favorable outcome probably and that the 

results would’ve confirmed the presence of both the victims and defendants blood 

and finger prints on the knife.  Well that’s pure speculation on the State’s part.  We 

don’t know that because we don’t have the forensic evidence in.  So in order for 

me to make that argument in ground 2, and to get past the State’s opposition, I 

have to make the request to get that forensic evidence that I’m saying trial counsel 

should’ve done prior to trial. You know I’m sort of being cut off at the knees here if 

I’m not permitted to get this evidence. 

 THE COURT:  Ms. Mishler your response. 

 MS. MISHLER:  Yes, Your Honor, the -- I mean, there are a number of 

issues here, but the -- what the defendant is asking this Court to do is not 

authorized by the statute.  For one thing, finger prints.  There’s been no legal 

basis provided for this Court to order any finger print analysis.  The only legal 

basis -- offered for the request is NRS 176.0918, which does not authorize this 

Court order a finger print analysis.   

 But I do wanna address the potential of the victims finger prints bring 

found on the knife that would be no surprise if that happened, because it was her 

steak knife.  This was domestic violence case.  The victim and the defendant 

knew each other, and this occurred in the victim’s home, and she testified at trial 

[indiscernible] herself for being a poor housekeeper and stated that the evening 

before the offense occurred she had -- she used that steak knife to eat her dinner 
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and she left the knife on the stove in the kitchen.  And then the following morning 

the defendant grabbed it and then -- threatened her with it, and committed a 

number of crimes with it.  So that wouldn’t be exculpatory for the victim’s finger 

prints to be found on the knife.  You would expect those to be there, as well as the 

absence of defendant’s finger prints on the knife would not be surprising either, 

but regardless there’s been no legal basis for ordering finger evidence. 

 And there -- and I understand, Your Honor, I agree with you that there 

are number of technical statutory requirements that were not present in this 

motion and some of them are less important than others, but the key defect in the 

motion is that the defendant has not presented a reasonable possibility he would 

not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory results had been obtained 

for genetic marker analysis.  I mean, there’s a reason DNA evidence is typically a 

limited -- of limited probative value in a domestic violence case because identity 

isn’t at issue.  And the argument that such evidence, if the -- anticipated results 

were obtained that that would -- assist in creating a self-defense case.  That’s not 

-- a lawful basis for requesting DNA testing under the statute.  The evidence has 

to be more than just helpful in establishing a theoretical defense.   

 And regarding the self-defense, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that 

the self-defense jury instruction should have been given but not because -- a lot of 

self-defense evidence was introduce, but simply because some -- self-defense 

evidence was introduced during cross examination of the victim in the form of -- an 

incident in the victim’s past where she -- threatens someone with a knife.  That 

was the extent of the self-defense evidence that was introduced here.  And the -- 

Court ruled that it was harmless error, because irrational trier of fact could 

reasonability -- infer that the defendant committed these crimes and was not 
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acting in self-defense when he committed this criminal act.  I’m reading:  the error 

was harmless because it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational trier of 

fact would’ve found Perry guilty absent the error.  That’s direct from the order of 

affirmance, and that was literally the only self-defense evidence.  The defendant -- 

did not testify at all so no evidence was introduced that this was -- other than the 

incident in the victim’s past, no other evidence of self-defense was introduced. 

 But the statute requires that the anticipated results be so exculpatory 

that had the State been in possession of such results the State would not have 

prosecuted the defendant.  That’s not the case here.  Even if before trial the State 

had evidence that the defendant’s blood was on the knife, as well as elsewhere in 

the residence, the State would have gone forward with the prosecution.  And even 

-- self-defense argument could be enough for ordering testing, the victim, Ms. 

Carpenter, testimony was that the defendant repeatedly punched and kicked her 

in the fact and on her body.  This was corroborated by the surgeon who operated 

on her and repaired her orbital facture.  Testimony was that the eyeball has sunk 

back into her head as a result of trauma, and that her orbital facture was 

consistent with being kicked and punched.  There was testimony introduced from 

the responding officer and the crime scene analyst about Ms. Carpenter’s 

condition regarding her bloody face and an eye that was swollen shut.  Photos 

that were taken on the date of the offense showing these injuries were introduced 

at trial.   

 The defendant’s DNA at the scene would not call this into question, 

even if the -- defendant’s DNA was found -- on the knife, that would not -- mean 

that Ms. Carpenter injured -- did testify that she bite the defendant’s hand during 

the course of them struggling.  It’s possible that he bleed as a result of that.  

AA340



 

-7- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

That’s still not enough to create self-defense.  And if there was blood elsewhere in 

the house where this occurred, that still doesn’t establish that -- Ms. Carpenter 

caused the defendant to be injured.  It’s really just the defendant’s DNA at the 

scene.  And the relevance of the knife is that the defendant used it to threaten the 

victim and it allowed him to keep her confined and to steal her vehicle.  She 

testified that he was jabbing at her with a knife and holding it up to her throat.  

There was a struggle -- it wouldn’t be surprising if the defendant’s blood were 

found on the knife.  It’s not unusual for a preparatory in these types of crimes to 

cut himself when using a knife like this.   

 Excuse me. 

 Just the purpose of NRS 176.0[indiscernible]8 is to allow a convicted 

person to obtain DNA testing when such results could theoretically exonerate that 

person.  And that just can’t happen here.  And then -- lastly it hasn’t really been 

addressed the fact that if the defense wants to find the victim’s DNA on these 

items, I -- no evidence has been introduced that -- the police department is in 

possession of a genetic sample from Ms. Carpenter, and I don’t believe the Court 

has the authority to order her to provide a sample.  So I think that would have to 

already be in the police department’s possessions.  So with that, I’ll submit. 

 THE COURT:  Ms. Schwartzer -- 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  [Indiscernible] 

 THE COURT:  -- your response. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Just a few things.  I whole heartedly disagree 

that it would not be exculpatory if her DNA is not on the knife, and his DNA is, and 

her finger prints are on the knife, and his finger prints are not.  I understand that 

it’s her knife, so we would expect her finger prints to be on it, but if his are not, and 
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his DNA is from his blood, I think that is exculpatory.  I mean, evidence of a self-

defense claim is exculpatory.  And I think it’s a little absurd for the State to argue 

that it’s not. 

 As far as the Supreme Court ruling, yes the Court ruled that ultimately 

the error was harmless based upon the evidence presented at trial.  My argument 

is that additional evidence in the form of forensic evidence should have been 

presented at trial and if it had been there would’ve been a self-defense instruction.  

I think that the judge would have given one at that point.  There was no way for 

him to be found not guilty, be acquitted, without that instruction.   

 As far as, you know, whether or not the State wants to argue the 

meaning of his blood being on the knife, or her finger prints being on the knife, and 

his finger prints not being on the knife, that goes to the weight of the evidence and 

that would be for the jury or, in this case, the judge at a bench trial to decide.  But I 

don’t think it’s dipositive of this motion.  So with that, I’ll submit it, 

 THE COURT:  Let me ask you one question though, Ms. Schwartzer, 

about a specific portion that the State had said.  So they say, thus the presence of 

defendant’s blood at the scene if found, would not call his guilty into serious 

question given the documentation of the server injuries Carpenter received.  So I 

guess my question --  

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Do you have a page?  

 THE COURT:  Sorry, go ahead. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Do you have a page number?  I’m sorry. 

 THE COURT:  I don’t, I apologize.  It’s just in my notes.  But basically 

it’s just from -- it’s there main -- it’s one of their main arguments that, listen 

because of the severity of Carpenter’s injuries and the way that it was 
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documented, the way that she appeared once officers got there, the surgery that 

she had, this and that; right?  So they’re saying look -- because of the -- so even if 

defendant’s blood was at the scene, or was on this, or was on that, it really doesn’t 

have that much of an effect because, hypothetically, let’s say she’s the one that 

goes after him with the knife, right?  But at some point he obviously gets the upper 

hand and, you know, beats her, for lack of a better word, like into a pulp, right?  So 

-- 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Uh-huh. 

 THE COURT:  -- I, you know, self-defense -- to be self-defense has to 

be reasonable.  So how would that make it exculpatory in a jury trial sense? 

 MS. SCHWATZER:  Well, I mean, I guess the argument would be if 

she came at him with a knife and he was truly scared for his life, and he wanted to 

neutralize the threat, it could be pretty severe.  [Indiscernible] I understand she 

testified that a lot of other things happened, but if the forensic evidence tells a bit 

of a different story that calls her credibility into question.  Again that is a jury 

determination or, in this case, the judge presiding over the bench trial.  So, again, I 

think it goes to the weight.  But, you know -- and I go back to the State’s response 

to this ground in the PCR pleadings.  You know, for them to say that the results 

would’ve confirmed the presence of both the victims and defendants blood, and 

finger prints, on the knife, its speculation.  I think its best if we just get the actually 

forensic evidence and then proper arguments can be made, but until now, it’s all 

speculative.  

 THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.  All right, so I’ve looked a lot into the 

facts of this case as well as to the applicable statute.  As I noted, preliminarily, the 

defendant’s motion was not accompanied by the declaration, you know the 
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affidavit, that we spoke about, under penalty of perjury, which is required by 

176.09183.  However, I do see as Ms. Schwartzer pointed out that there was a 

declaration originally filed by the defendant himself, so I am going to consider that.  

And as well as I do think it’s most expedient to handle the matter now, because 

otherwise this would just be refiled with the proper affidavit and we would be back 

here in a couple weeks just arguing the same thing. 

 However, I do not find underneath the statute that the defendant has 

demonstrated that there is a reasonable possibility that exist that the petition 

would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory results had been 

obtained through a genetic marker analysis of the evidence, which is the 

requirement under NRS 176.09183(b).  I definitely understand the argument being 

made by the defendant, but I -- in looking at everything I think even if the blood on 

the knife, and the blood samples were a match, at most it shows that defendant 

did leave his blood at the scene; however, I don’t know how exculpatory or -- I 

don’t think it meets the exculpatory requirement as provided by the statute.  I think 

finding the defendant’s blood on the knife or elsewhere at the crime scene would 

not prove that he was, you know, cut by Carpenter with the knife.  He could’ve cut 

himself.  He could have, you know, she state that she bit him during the 

altercation, so I don’t think that this evidence rises to the level that is needed 

pursuant to the statute. 

 As regard to the latent prints, I don’t believe that the latent prints are 

something that was considered by the statute.  It’s more in regards to genetic 

marker testing so it’s denied on that basis in regard to the latent prints. 

 Does anybody have any questions or need clarity in regards to my 

ruling this morning -- or this afternoon, which started this morning? 
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 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Yes, Your Honor.  You mentioned that 

according to the statute there has to be a responsible possibility that exist that the 

petitioner would not have been prosecuted.  The statute actually says, prosecuted 

or convicted -- 

 THE COURT:  Or convicted.  

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  -- so.  Okay.  So --  

 THE COURT:  Sorry if I shortened --  

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  -- you’re ruling is that --  

 THE COURT:  If I shortened that that was my fault.  But I do recognize 

that it is -- 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Okay. 

 THE COURT:  -- prosecuted or convicted for the crime, yes. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Okay.  And then with respect to the request for 

finger print analysis, I understand I put it all in one motion, I could’ve filed it in two 

separation motions, I thought it would be a better use of time if I put it together.  

I’m not basing the print request on the statute.  It is just a standalone request, as 

part of post-conviction investigation.  I mean, normally when I investigate cases I 

don’t need to get permission from the Court to go do anything. 

 THE COURT:  Right. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  But in this case I can’t tell Metro to do this -- 

 THE COURT:  Right. 

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  -- I have to get a court order.  So it’s just a 

standalone [indiscernible]. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  I understand.  I’m sorry I thought you were 

arguing it pursuant to that statute.  But -- so let me address that.  I don’t think that 
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there’s good enough cause shown to order Metro to do that because as was 

pointed out, you know by the State, this is a battery -- obviously battery domestic 

violence issue that occurs within the home.  But not only is it a knife within the 

home, but it’s also a knife that the victim discusses that she used to eat dinner 

with that evening.  So because of that, that motion is denied in regards to the 

latent prints.  

 MS. SCHWARTZER:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you.  

[Proceedings concluded at 2:12 p.m.] 

* * * * * * 
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